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Graeme Huf

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
August 2000

Appointment Chairman; Board Governance Committee Chair; Board Audit Committee
Employment Business Advisor and Company Director (Former Director - Business Services, LEVNT; School 

Business Manager and Senior Manager, Commonwealth Bank)
Congregation Our Redeemer, Geelong North, Vic
Current Lay Reader; LLL Congregation Contact & Steward of congregation
Former School Treasurer; Congregational Treasurer
Qualifications Diploma of Management; Company Directors Course (AICD); Mastering the Boardroom 

Course (AICD); Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors

Nancy Fox

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
August 2002

Appointment Vice Chairperson; Board Governance Committee; Board Risk Committee
Employment Professional Non-Executive Director
Congregation St Pauls, Sydney, NSW
Current LLL Congregation Contact; Congregational Church Council member; International Mission 

consultant; International Mission-Asia Focus Dialogue Group advisor; LCA Tribunal member; 
LCA Aged Care Review Dialogue Group member

Former District Finance Council member; Sunday School Teacher
Qualifications Doctor of Law; Bachelor of Arts (History); Company Directors Course (AICD); Mastering the 

Boardroom Course (AICD); Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors

Mark Altus

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
August 2010

Appointment Board Risk Committee Chair; Board Governance Committee
Employment Retired Director Revenue & Intergovernmental Relations, Dept of Treasury (WA)
Congregation St John’s, Perth, WA
Current LLL Congregation Contact; Congregational Elder; Lutheran Homes Foundation (WA) 

Committee of Management Chair
Former District Treasurer
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; Company Directors Course (AICD); Graduate of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors

Ron Asquith

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
September 2008

Appointment Board Audit Committee Chair
Employment Accountant (Director)
Congregation St John’s, Wodonga, Vic
Current Lutheran Aged Care Albury Board and Finance Risk & Audit Committee member; Council for 

Lutheran Education Vic, NSW & Tas Deputy Chairperson; Australian Lutheran World Service 
Board Advisory Group member; Wodonga Victory Lutheran College Council member

Former St Paul’s College Board; Victory Lutheran College business manager
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; CPA; Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors

Directors’ Report
Directors Information
The names of the persons who have been Directors, or appointed 
as Directors, during the period since 1 July 2018 and up to the 
date of this report are: Graeme Huf, Nancy Fox, Mark Altus, Ron 
Asquith, John Grocke, Brenton Henschke (retired September 
2018), John Howard (retired September 2018), David Pietsch, 

Steven Podlich, Geoff Thiel (appointed September 2018), 
Karen Pienaar (appointed September 2018) and Tanya Crooks 
(appointed September 2018).

Particulars of the skills, experience, expertise and responsibilities 
of the Directors at the date of this report are set out below.
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John Grocke

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
August 2008

Appointment Board Governance Committee; Board Risk Committee
Employment Financial Planning Principal
Congregation Immanuel, North Adelaide, SA
Current Lutheran Super Chairman and Trustee
Former OpenBook Board member; Board of Pensions member; Congregational Elder and Chairman  

of Elders
Qualifications Chartered Financial Planner; Company Directors Course (AICD); Graduate of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors

David Pietsch

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
September 1999

Appointment Board Audit Committee
Employment Semi-retired IT Executive
Congregation St Paul’s, Box Hill, Vic
Current Congregational Strategic Property Group Chair; Congregational Relocation Project Director
Former Lutherans for Life Council; Luther@500 Conference 2016 Conference Manager; Convention 

Planning Committees – General Synod and Victorian District; Lutheran School of Theology 
Victoria Chair; Victorian District Call Committee; Congregational Chairman; Congregational 
Secretary; Congregational Elder; Worship Committee Chair

Qualifications Bachelor of Science; Company Directors Course (AICD)

Steven Podlich

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
August 2015

Appointment Board Risk Committee
Employment Senior Relationship Manager, Westpac
Congregation Bethany, Raceview, Qld
Current LCA Finance, Audit and Risk Committee member; Parish Acting Chair
Former Parish Administration Team Chairman; Congregational Chairman; Parish Administration  

Team Secretary
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; CPA; Company Directors Course (AICD); Graduate of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors

Tanya Crooks

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
September 2018

Employment College Principal
Congregation Our Saviour, Rochedale, Qld
Current Congregational Lector, Lay Reader
Former Congregational Vice-Chair; Worship Team member; Communion Assistant
Qualifications Diploma of Education; Associate Diploma of Speech & Drama; Bachelor of Education; Master 

of Educational Leadership

Karen Pienaar

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
September 2018

Employment Head of Finance
Congregation Bethlehem, Adelaide, SA
Current LCA Finance, Audit and Risk Committee member; Congregational; Treasurer
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; Graduate Diploma Chartered Accountants; Graduate of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors; Master of Business Administration

Geoff Thiel

Appointed to  
LLL Board 
September 2018

Employment Professional Non-Executive Director and Business Strategy Consultant 
Congregation Holy Trinity, Hampstead, SA
Current LCA North Adelaide Redevelopment Feasibility Taskforce member; LCA National Committee 

for Ministry with the Ageing member
Former LHI Retirement Services Director; Golden Grove Lutheran Primary School; Treasurer; 

Hampstead Lutheran Church Treasurer
Qualifications Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy; CPA; Company Directors Course (AICD); Graduate of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors
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Principal activities
The principal objects and 
activities of LLL during the 
financial year were to advance 
the work of the Lutheran 
Church of Australia through 
the provision of financial 
benefits and services. This 
goal is achieved through the 
operation of a charitable 
financial institution in 
Australia. 

LLL raises deposits from 
members and supporters 
of the LCA constituency 
and these funds are used to 
provide ministry support to the 
Church. This support includes 

the provision of charitable 
loans exclusively to the LCA 
and constituent entities 
together with the provision of 
direct economic benefits from 
generated returns. 

LLL has operated as 
a Company limited by 
Guarantee since 13 July 
2018 and transitioned from 
an incorporated association 
on that date. The change in 
legal structure was necessary 
to enable LLL to operate 
as an Authorised Deposit-
taking Institution (ADI) in 
Australia. LLL commenced 
formal operation as an ADI 

on 1 February 2019 under the 
authority granted by APRA. 
Prior to this time LLL operated 
under a charitable exemption 
from the Banking Act under a 
specific authority instrument 
issued by APRA. 

The change in legal structure 
and operation as an ADI 
enables LLL to maximise its 
financial support of the LCA 
under a modern regulatory 
platform and in accord with 
its charitable objects. These 
objects have remained 
consistent with the founding 
vision of LLL in 1921 and now 
find modern expression in the 

landscape of charitable and 
banking laws in Australia. 

As an approved ADI regulated 
by APRA, LLL provides 
significant confidence to the 
Lutheran community and 
supporters of LLL as to its 
governance, management, 
financial credibility and 
supervision. 

Directors’ Report
Directors attendances at meetings
The table below shows the number of Directors’ meetings held (including meetings of Board Committees noted below) and the 
number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Lutheran Laypeople’s League of Australia during the year.

Board
Governance 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Risk 
Committee

Credit  
Approval 

Committee

Director H A H A H A H A H A

Graeme Huf 4 3 4 3 4 3 1 1

Nancy Fox 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 1

Mark Altus 4 4 4 4 4 4

Ron Asquith 4 2 4 4 1 1

John Grocke 4 3 4 4 4 4

Brenton Henschke 1 1

John Howard 1 1

David Pietsch 4 4 4 4

Steven Podlich 4 2 4 3 1 1

Tanya Crooks 3 3

Karen Pienaar 3 3

Geoff Thiel 3 3

(A) Number of meetings attended during the period 
(H) Number of meetings held during the period
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Strategic priorities
LLL’s enduring and long term 
objectives are to support the 
LCA through:

• Providing benefits and 
services to the LCA

• Growing Reserves/
Permanent Funds

• Raising Deposits

• Providing Loans

LLL’s short term objectives 
are to advance its capacity in 
support of the LCA through:

• Adapting to operation as 
an ADI and the expanded 
regulatory framework.

• Increasing LLL’s 
knowledge of customer 
needs including LCA 
constituent entities and 
individuals.

• Consolidating and 
improving the revenue 
base in a challenging low 
interest environment.

• Installing enhanced credit 
management practices 
including loan security 
measures. 

• Increasing LLL’s relevance 
and attractiveness 
to various age based 
demographics and inter-
generational presence. 

To achieve these objectives 
LLL has adopted the following 
strategies:

• Continued focus on the 
needs of the LCA through 
access to loan funding, 
grants, treasury and 
support services. 

• Improve internal business 
processes through 
technology development 
and innovation. 

• Work with strategic 
partners to enhance 
product offerings, access 
channels and customer 
engagement. 

• Advance information 
and intelligence systems 
regarding collection and 
understanding of customer 
data and knowledge of 
LCA property holdings.

• Appoint staff as required in 
accordance with strategic 
priorities. 

• Provide increased 
opportunity for staff 
professional development 
and training. 

• Continued investment in 
leadership and culture 
including interaction 
of management and 
governance. 

Financial performance disclosures

Result and review of operations
LLL recorded a surplus for the year from operations including 
legacies and donations amounting to $5,751,644 (2018: net 
surplus of $6,420,478). The calculation of surplus is recorded 
after recording as expenses the various categories of ‘benefits 
and service costs’ together with grants paid to the LCA. 

Following is a list of grants made to the LCA during the last 12 
months:

Recipient $
ALWS Community Education in Lutheran Schools 116,000

Grow Ministries 325,000

LCA Accounting Services 95,000

LCA Aged Care Governance Implementation 160,000

LCA Assistant to the Bishop – Reconciliation Ministry 140,000

LCA Bible Ministry 20,000

LCA Church Worker Support 290,000

LCA Child Protection Project 70,000

LCA Constitution Review 75,000

LCA Cross Cultural Ministry 136,000

LCA Communications 175,000

LCA Ecclesiastical Discipline Review 68,000

LCA GCC Special Fund 100,000

LCA Interim Ministry 50,000

LCA Local Mission Christian Care Sunday 60,000

LCA Service Desk 90,000

LCA Strategic & Synodical Initiatives 155,000

Total 2,125,000

LLL makes grants as considered appropriate in accord with 
its mandate and ministry. LLL does this while ensuring that 
Reserves are preserved at appropriate levels to prudently 
protect the interests of depositors and to honour the intentions 
of gifted and bequeathed special funds. Accordingly, LLL 
seeks to add to Reserves commensurately with increases in 
Depositors’ funds and gifted moneys. 
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Directors’ Report
During the year ended 30 June 2019, LLL added $2 million to 
its Capital Reserve and $2 million to its Ministry Support Fund 
Reserve. Other transfers to reserves were made in accord with 
the policy settings of LLL, activity and prudential requirements. 

Due to strict adherence to narrow interest rate margins the 
capacity of LLL to operate at a surplus is largely affected 
by economic interest rates that apply to its capital stable 
investments. During the year ended 30 June 2019, interest 
rates have fallen to record low levels in Australia. LLL has 
nevertheless been able to sustain a highly competitive deposit 
interest rate at 2.25% for the duration of the 2019 financial year, 
while keeping the standard lending rate unchanged at 5.0%.

LLL is grateful for the benevolence of persons who make a 
permanent financial contribution to LLL via donations and 
bequests. In the year ended 30 June 2019, LLL received 
legacies of $645,186 and donations of $42,984. These moneys 
are recorded as income in accord with accounting standards 
and are then permanently honoured by transferring them to 
Reserves in accord with LLL policy.

Following are details of legacies and donations received over 
the last 12 months:

Donor $
Goesch, K A 880

Hermann, C L 2,000

Hoffmann, L E 10,000

Janetzki, R E 10,379

Kleinig, K R 5,406

Lehmann, R S H 10,829

Linke, D P 100,000

Materne, E M 29,431

Matuschka, E H 34,549

Melbourne, E D 109,500

Mirtschin, L M 125,197

Schulz, R 201,839

Webb, E L 5,176

Sundry 42,984

Overall Total 688,170

In addition, a legacy totalling $500,000 was received from the 
estate of Joyce Butterfield which under the terms of the Will is 
to be distributed to LCA NSW District. This will be distributed to 
the District upon receipt of specific requests from the District.

We sincerely thank all LLL supporters for continuing to support 
the work of the Lutheran Church through LLL Savings Accounts, 
Legacies and Donations. LLL would not be able to provide  
the following benefits and services to the Church without  
your support.

Recipient $
African Ministry Fund 20,015

Australian Lutheran World Service (ALWS) 136,074

ALWS - Community education in Lutheran schools 116,000

Grow Ministries 380,408

LCA & Districts (inc LCA Ministry Support Fund) 1,717,142

LCA Accounting Services 95,000

LCA Administration Support 39,500

LCA Aged Care Governance Implementation 160,000

LCA Child Protection Project 70,000

LCA Church Worker Support 371,002

LCA Cross Cultural Ministry 136,000

LCA GCC Special Fund 100,000

LCA International Mission Support 284,932

LCA Local Mission Support 646,029

LCA Special Ministry Fund 100,000

LCA Training & Development Support 75,471

Lutheran Bible Translators Australia/Wycliffe 20,000

Lutheran Media Support 29,058

Lutheran Tract Mission 216,359

Mission Stimulus Grants 125,000

Various LCA Projects (non-interest-bearing accounts) 1,271,145

Various aged care organisations 41,872

Various community care projects 6,298

Various conditional donation/legacy recipients 139,107

Total 6,296,412
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LLL transferred from an incorporated association to a company 
limited by guarantee on 13 July 2018. Refer to Note 28 of the 
Financial Statements for further details of this transfer.

LLL commenced operating as an Approved Deposit-taking 
Institution (ADI) on 1 February 2019 and is regulated under the 
Banking Act by APRA. In addition, LLL was granted an expanded 
Australian Financial Services License (AFSL) from ASIC with 
effect from 1 February 2019.

Key performance measures
LLL measures its performance through the use of quantitative 
and qualitative measures and key performance metrics. These 
metrics are used by the Directors among other considerations 
to assess whether the Company’s short-term and long-term 
objectives are being achieved. 

2019 
$

2018 
$

Financial benefits metrics
LCA benefits and grants 6,225,954 6,200,444

LCA economic value provided 
(estimated)1 6,296,412 6,482,660

Total assets 1,281,812,403 1,181,313,494

Growth in total assets 8.5% 2.3%

Preserved funds (relevant 
reserves) 113,455,426 110,554,374

Growth in preserved funds 2.6% 5.7%

Customer metrics
Loan book balance 296,610,957 301,319,889

Growth in loan look balance (1.6) % (3.5) %

Depositors funds held 1,144,652,591 1,050,799,096

Growth in deposits 8.9 % 1.9 %

1 This estimate includes non-interest-bearing benefits and the value of treasury services.

Our People
LLL employed a total of 23 
people during the financial 
year to 30 June 2019  
(19.6 FTE). Staff undertake 
a range of activities 
including finance and credit 
management, teller and 
general clerical duties, IT 
support, project management, 
promotion and marketing, 
LCA Insurance management 
and operation of the Lutheran 
Tract Mission.

LLL executive management 
team during the period since  
1 July 2018 and up to the date 
of this report are:

• Allen Kupke – Chief 
Executive Officer

• Paul Klose – Chief 
Operating Officer

• Mark Boettger – Chief Risk 
Officer

Subsequent events
In the opinion of the Directors, 
since the end of the financial 
year to the date of this report, 
no matter or circumstance 
has arisen that significantly 
affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the 
Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Company in 
future financial years. 

Regulatory 
disclosures
The Company has public 
disclosure obligations under 
Prudential Standard APS 
330 Public Disclosure. This 
information is available on the 
‘Disclosure documents’ section 
of the Company’s website, 
under ‘Regulatory Disclosures’. 
See https://www.lll.org.au/
about/disclosure-documents 
for further information.

Contribution on 
Winding Up
The Company is incorporated 
under the Corporations Act 
2001 and is an entity limited 
by guarantee. The Company’s 
members being the Directors 
of the company would not be 
required to contribute towards 
meeting any outstanding 
obligations of the company.

Auditors 
Independence 
Declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s 
Independence Declaration as 
required under Section 60-40 
of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012 is included at page 10 of 
this financial report and forms 
part of the Directors’ Report.

Signed in accordance with  
a resolution of the Directors.

Graeme Huf 
Director, Chairperson
Dated at Adelaide this 13th day  
of September 2019. 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

subdivision 60-C section 60-40 of Australian 

Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
To: the Directors of Lutheran Laypeople’s League of Australia Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 
30 June 2019 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012  in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

  

 
KPM_INI_01          

KPMG Darren Ball 
Partner 

  

 Adelaide 

 13 September 2019 
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Statement of Income and Expenditure and 
Other Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 30 June 2019

Statement of Financial Position  
as at 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

$ $

Gross interest income 2 41,574,040 39,134,170 

Gross interest expense 2 (25,557,825) (25,166,790)

Net interest income 16,016,215 13,967,380 

Legacies 645,186 2,482,275 

Donations 42,984 65,606 

Other income 3 441,509 605,908 

Net income before 
operating expenses and 
grants and donations 17,145,894 17,121,169 

Employee benefit 
expenses 4 (2,451,513) (2,361,942)

Administration and 
promotion expenses 5 (2,716,783) (2,138,305)

Benefits and services 
costs 6 (2,596,323) (2,384,478)

Grants 7 (3,629,631) (3,815,966)

Net surplus 5,751,644 6,420,478 

Total comprehensive income 5,751,644 6,420,478 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents 8 79,424,115 84,864,312 

Investments 9 891,170,076 780,464,480 

Trade and other 
receivables 10 163,301 260,278 

Other assets 18 6,682,792 6,707,769 

Loans receivable 11 296,610,957 301,319,889 

Property and equipment 17 7,364,561 7,383,356 

Intangible assets 21 396,601 313,410 

Total assets 1,281,812,403 1,181,313,494 

Liabilities
Deposits 12 1,144,652,591 1,050,779,096 

Trade and other 
payables 13 3,055,845 2,289,317 

Other liabilities 19 2,357,807 2,158,764 

Provisions 20 1,152,491 1,244,292 

Total liabilities 1,151,218,734 1,056,471,469 

Net assets 130,593,669 124,842,025 

Equity
Accumulated funds 10,655,389 9,804,797 

Reserves 22 119,938,280 115,037,228 

Total equity 130,593,669 124,842,025
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Retained 
Surpluses

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve

LLL - ALWS 
Support 

Fund 
Reserve

LLL - Child, 
Youth & 

Family 
Support 

Fund 
Reserve

LLL - 
Lutheran 

Media 
Support 

Fund 
Reserve

LLL - 
International 

Mission 
Support 

Fund 
Reserve

LLL - 
Special 

Purposes 
Fund 

Reserve

LLL - 
Training & 

Development 
Support Fund 

Reserve

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at  
30 June 2017 9,301,785 4,482,854 1,458,932 1,108,167 581,068 5,698,645 10,846,194 1,509,421 

Comprehensive 
income         

Net surplus  
for the year 6,420,478 - - - - -  - 

Total 
comprehensive 
income 6,420,478 - - - - - - - 

Transfer to reserves (5,917,466) - 381,794 - 100 - 634,495 - 

Balance as at  
30 June 2018 9,804,797 4,482,854 1,840,726 1,108,167 581,168 5,698,645 11,480,689 1,509,421 

Comprehensive 
income         

Net surplus  
for the year 5,751,644 - - - - - - - 

Total 
comprehensive 
income 5,751,644 - - - - - - - 

Transfer to reserves (4,901,052) - 33,137 - - - 242,330 - 

Balance as at  
30 June 2019 10,655,389 4,482,854 1,873,863 1,108,167 581,168 5,698,645 11,723,019 1,509,421 
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

In-
Memoriam 
Donations 

Reserve
Legacies 
Reserve

Donations 
Reserve

Capital 
Reserve

General 
Reserve 

for Credit 
Losses

LLL - 
Church 
Worker 

Support 
Fund 

Reserve

LLL - Local 
Mission 
Support 

Fund 
Reserve

LLL - 
Ministry 
Support 

Fund 
Reserve Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at 
30 June 2017 164,353 22,381,396 1,174,591 31,375,924 - 1,620,027 11,718,190 15,000,000 118,421,547 

Comprehensive 
income  

Net surplus  
for the year - - - - - - - - 6,420,478 

 

Total 
comprehensive 
income - - - - - - - - 6,420,478 

Transfer  
to reserves 405 1,893,459 7,169 2,000,000  21 23 1,000,000 - 

Balance as at  
30 June 2018 164,758 24,274,855 1,181,760 33,375,924 - 1,620,048 11,718,213 16,000,000 124,842,025 

Comprehensive 
income  

Net surplus  
for the year - - - - - - - - 5,751,644 

 

Total 
comprehensive 
income - - - - - - - - 5,751,644 

Transfer  
to reserves 5,970 604,926 3,818 -* 2,000,000 19 10,852 2,000,000 - 

Balance as at  
30 June 2019 170,728 24,879,781 1,185,578 33,375,924 2,000,000 1,620,067 11,729,065 18,000,000 130,593,669 

* movement in the Capital Reserve for the year ended 30 June 2019 is comprised of a $2,000,000 transfer from net surplus and a 
$2,000,000 transfer to general reserve for credit losses.
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received 41,570,787 39,965,836 

Interest paid (25,406,139) (25,326,002)

Net decrease in loan facilities 4,835,814 11,028,632 

Net increase in Depositors’ funds 93,951,331 21,116,141 

Sundry receipts from operations 286,102 229,841 

Payments to suppliers, employees and 
allocations (10,297,172) (10,054,593)

Legacies received 645,186 2,482,275 

Donations received 42,984 28,297 

Net cash from operating activities 25 105,628,893 39,470,427 

Cash flows from Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 46,716 

Purchase of property and equipment (103,402) (109,730)

Purchase of intangibles (260,092) (272,066)

Net increase in interest bearing securities (110,705,596) (28,339,899)

Net cash from investing activities (111,069,090) (28,674,979)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (5,440,197) 10,795,448 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning  
of the year 84,864,312 74,068,864 

Cash and cash equivalents,  
end of the year 8 79,424,115 84,864,312 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Introduction

Note 1 Financial 
Statements Preparation
These are the financial 
statements of Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia Limited (the 
Company or LLL) as an 
individual entity for the 
year ended 30 June 2019. 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia Limited is 
incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia and is a not-for-
profit company Limited by 
Guarantee.

The Directors resolved to 
authorise the issue of these 
financial statements on 13th 
September 2019.

Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial 
report has been prepared by a 
not-for-profit company and:

• has been prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements for an 
Authorised Deposit-
taking Institution under 
the Banking Act 1959 (as 
amended);

• has been prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the 
Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012;

• has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards 
(AAS) and Interpretations 
as issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB);

• has been prepared in 
accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001;

• has been prepared on a 
going concern basis using 
a historical cost basis, 
except for certain assets 
and liabilities measured at 
fair value;

• where required, presents 
restated comparative 
information for 
consistency with the 
current year’s presentation 
in the Financial Report; and

• is presented in Australian 
dollars, which is the 
Company’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Accounting Policies

Information about the 
Company’s accounting 
policies applied in the 
preparation of the financial 
statements is distinguished 
within the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

The following accounting 
policies apply to more than 
one specific note or to the 
Company as a whole.

a. Income Tax

No provision for income 
tax has been raised as the 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia Limited is exempt 
from income tax under 
Division 50 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997.

b. Goods and Services Tax 
(GST)

Revenues, expenses and 
assets are recognised net of 
the amount of GST, except 
where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable 
from the Australian Taxation 
Office (ATO).

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia is entitled 
to claim only ‘reduced input 
tax credits’ in relation to 
limited types of expenditure 
pertaining to financial supplies 
and is entitled to claim 
apportioned input tax credits 
to the extent that expenditure 
is attributable to creditable 
acquisitions. GST incurred but 
not claimed is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an 
item of expense.

Receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of the amount 
of GST receivable or payable. 
The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included with 
other receivables or payables 
in the statement of financial 
position.

Cash flows are presented 
on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows 
arising from investing or 
financing activities which are 
recoverable from or payable 
to the ATO, are presented as 
operating cash flows included 
in receipts from customers or 
payments to suppliers.
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New accounting standards issued but not yet effective

Accounting 
Standard Operative date

Planned date 
of adoption Nature of change Impact on initial adoption

AASB 15

Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers

Periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019 (Not-for-
profit entities)

1 July 2019 The new standard establishes a five-step 
model for assessing and recording revenue 
from cash flows arising from a contract with 
a customer. Revenue is recognised when 
control of a good or service is transferred to 
the customer. 

The application of AASB 15 
will not have a material impact 
on LLL’s financial statements. 
Most of LLL’s revenue is 
generated from financial 
instruments, which are dealt 
with under AASB 9. 

AASB 1058

Income of 
Not-for-Profit 
Entities

Periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019

1 July 2019 The new standard clarifies and simplifies 
the income recognition requirements that 
apply to not-for-profit entities, in conjunction 
with AASB 15. The standard applies where 
a not-for-profit Company receives volunteer 
services or enters into transactions where 
the consideration to acquire an asset is 
significantly less than the fair value of the 
asset principally to enable the Company to 
further its objectives.

The application of AASB 1058 
will not have a material impact 
on LLL’s financial statements. 
LLL rarely receives non-cash 
donations of property and does 
not receive volunteer services.

AASB 16

Leases

Periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2019

1 July 2019 The new standard requires all leases to 
be recorded ‘on-balance sheet’, with the 
exception of leases with a term of less than 
12 months and low value leases. Right-
of-use assets are to be recognised, with 
a corresponding lease liability for lease 
payment obligations.

The application of AASB 16 
is not anticipated to have 
any impact on LLL’s financial 
statements, as LLL does 
not currently engage in any 
contracts as lessee.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial Performance

Note 2 Net Interest Income

Accounting Policy

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement 
of income and expenditure using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method measures the amortised cost  
of a financial asset or financial liability using the effective 
interest rate. The effective interest rate discounts the estimated 
stream of future cash payments or receipts over the expected 
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial instrument.

Fees and costs which form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate of a financial instrument are recognised using the 
effective interest method and recorded in interest income or 
expense depending on whether the underlying instrument  
is a financial asset or liability.

Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an 
adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition 
of an income or expense item in income and expenditure.

2019 2018

$ $

Interest income
Investments 26,810,536 24,216,923 

General church loans 14,763,504 14,917,247 

Gross interest income 41,574,040 39,134,170 

Interest expense
Depositors 25,557,825 25,166,790 

Gross interest expense 25,557,825 25,166,790 

Net interest income 16,016,215 13,967,380 

Note 3 Other Income

Accounting Policy

All revenue is stated net of goods and services tax.

2019 2018

$ $

Net profit on disposal of non-
current assets - 6,482 

Reimbursements for office services 96,000 94,000 

Rental income 118,985 120,627 

Other income 226,524 384,799 

Total 441,509 605,908 
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Note 5 Administration And Promotion Expenses

2019 2018

 $ $

Advertising and promotional 
expenses 124,045 106,890 

Amortisation expense 176,901 100,174 

APRA fees 33,402 - 

Audit fees 114,406 64,800 

Bank fees and charges 7,610 5,367 

Cleaning and recycling 16,417 15,053 

Computer expenses 509,665 484,463 

Consulting and contracting fees 573,441 354,254 

Depreciation 122,197 129,259 

Insurance 211,928 210,677 

Legal fees 79,677 88,725 

Light and power 32,442 38,015 

Merchant fees 167,025 116,371 

Postage 75,110 66,407 

Printing, stationery and general 
office expenses 142,099 115,705 

Rates and taxes 35,075 33,542 

Repairs and maintenance 89,626 71,353 

Security costs 14,834 10,466 

Staff training and amenities 33,974 23,297 

Telephone costs 20,247 19,096 

Travelling and accommodation 
expenses 136,662 84,391 

Total 2,716,783 2,138,305 

Note 4 Employee Benefit Expenses

Accounting Policy

Contributions are made by the Company to employee 
superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when 
incurred. This disclosure policy includes superannuation 
contributions made by salary sacrifice at the direction of the 
employee.

Salaries and wages together with superannuation contributions 
disclosed in the financial statements include remuneration of 
the Directors.

2019 2018

 $ $

Annual leave 160,270 152,652 

Fringe benefits 90,009 87,205 

Long service leave 70,329 68,615 

Salaries and wages 1,845,204 1,771,977 

Superannuation contributions 285,701 281,493 

Total 2,451,513 2,361,942 
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Note 6 Benefits And Services Costs

Accounting Policy

Benefits are paid by LLL to provide funding for various activities 
of the LCA as part of the ordinary course of operation and 
consistent with its charitable objects. While discretionary in 
nature, benefit costs are calculated and paid using nominal 
internal rates applied to reserve balances that are maintained 
by LLL for those specific purposes. These specific purposes are 
described at Note 22 as part of Reserve disclosures. 

LLL also incurs some minor service costs with respect to 
certain deposit accounts and costs associated with school 
banking services. 

Benefits

2019 2018

Source Application $ $

LLL ALWS Support Fund ALWS 92,067 89,845 

LLL Local Mission 
Support Fund

LCA Local 
Mission 586,030 445,788 

LLL Lutheran Media 
Support Fund Lutheran Media 29,058 29,056 

LLL Ministry Support 
Fund

Lutheran Church 
of Australia 800,000 750,000 

LLL International 
Mission Support Fund

LCA International 
Mission 284,932 284,932 

LLL Training & 
Development Support 
Fund

LCA Training & 
Development 75,471 75,471 

LLL Special Purposes 
Fund

Various LCA 
Projects 567,666 545,858 

LLL Child, Youth  
& Family Support Fund

LCA Child, Youth 
& Family 55,408 55,408 

LLL Church Worker 
Support Fund

LCA Church 
Worker Support 81,002 81,001 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Service Costs
Annuities on life donations 167 167 

Collection costs - School 
banking services 17,657 19,957 

Subsidy on Children’s 
new deposit accounts 6,865 6,995 

Total 2,596,323 2,384,478 

Note 7 Grants

Accounting Policy

The Company makes payments to the Lutheran Church of 
Australia to fund its projects in accordance with the charitable 
objects of the Company. Annual grants to the Lutheran Church 
of Australia are recorded in the year that they relate to.

2019 2018

 $ $

Annual grant - LCA 2,125,000 2,400,000 

Interest benefits to Lutheran 
schools 10,848 12,773 

Other grants to the LCA 56,000 21,250 

Sundry donations 72,434 63,100 

Various LCA projects 1,365,349 1,318,843 

Total 3,629,631 3,815,966 
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Financial Instruments

Overview

Changes in accounting policy - Adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments

AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It makes major changes 
to the previous guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) 
model for impairment of financial assets.

On the application of AASB 9 the financial instruments of the Company were re-classified as follows:

Original classification 
AASB 139

New classification 
AASB 9

Closing balance 
30 June 2018 

(AASB 139) 

 Opening balance 
1 July 2018 

(AASB 9) 

 $  $ 

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 84,864,312 84,864,312 

Term deposits Held to maturity Amortised cost 581,883,000 581,883,000 

Floating rate notes Held to maturity Amortised cost 198,581,480 198,581,480 

Loans receivable Loans and receivables Amortised cost 301,319,889 301,319,889 

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost 260,277 260,277 

Other assets Loans and receivables Amortised cost 6,707,769 6,707,769 

Financial liabilities
Depositors’ funds Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,050,779,096 1,050,779,096 

Trade and other payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 2,289,317 2,289,317 

Other liabilities Amortised cost Amortised cost 2,053,198 2,053,198 
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Initial recognition and 
measurement

Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised in the 
statement of financial position 
when the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument, 
which is generally on trade 
date. Loans and receivables 
are recognised when cash 
is advanced (or settled) 
to borrowers. Financial 
instruments are initially 
measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs.

Classification and 
subsequent measurement

Measurement

Financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost

Amortised cost is calculated 
as the amount at which the 
financial asset or financial 
liability is measured at initial 
recognition less principal 
repayments plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation of the 
difference, if any, between the 
amount initially recognised 
and the maturity amount 
calculated using the effective 
interest rate method and less 
any reduction for impairment.

The effective interest rate 
method is used to allocate 
interest income or interest 
expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the 
rate that discounts estimated 
future cash payments or 
receipts over the expected  
life of the financial instrument 
to the net carrying amount  
of the financial asset or 
financial liability. 

Revisions to expected future 
net cash flows will necessitate 
an adjustment to the carrying 
value with a consequential 
recognition of an income or 
expense item in income and 
expenditure.

Classification for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 – 
AASB 139

These policies are only 
applicable for the year ended 
30 June 2018 in respect 
of the classification of 
financial assets under AASB 
139. Financial assets were 
classified as either loans and 
receivables or held-to-maturity 
investments under AASB 139.

Loans and receivables are 
non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not 
quoted in an active market 
and are subsequently 
measured at amortised 
cost. Gains or losses are 
recognised in income and 
expenditure through the 
amortisation process and 
when the financial asset is 
derecognised.

Held-to-maturity investments 
are non-derivative financial 
assets that have fixed 
maturities and fixed or 
determinable payments, 
and it is the Company’s 
intention to hold these 
investments to maturity. 
They are subsequently 
measured at amortised 
cost. Gains or losses are 
recognised in income and 
expenditure through the 
amortisation process and 
when the financial asset is 
derecognised.

Classification for the year 
ended 30 June 2019 – 
AASB 9

Financial assets are disclosed 
in the statement of financial 
position at a carrying amount 
which reflects the Company’s 
business model for managing 
assets.

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia Limited’s 
asset management model is 
that of holding financial assets 
with the objective of collecting 
contractual cash flows and 
where the contractual terms 
give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal 
and interest.

These financial instruments 
are, subsequent to initial 
measurement, measured at 
‘amortised cost’ using the 
effective interest rate method 
or ‘cost’.

Financial Liabilities

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised 
cost. Gains or losses are 
recognised in income and 
expenditure through the 
amortisation process and 
when the financial liability is 
derecognised. This remained 
unchanged from the year 
ended 30 June 2018 under 
AASB 139.

Derecognition of financial 
instruments

The Company derecognises 
a financial asset when the 
contractual cash flows 
from the asset expire or it 
transfers its rights to receive 
contractual cash flows 
from the financial asset 
in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are 
transferred. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets 
that is created or retained by 
the Company is recognised as 
a separate asset or liability.

The Company removes a 
financial liability from the 
balance sheet when the 
obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Note 8 Cash And Cash Equivalents

Accounting Policy

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits 
held with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Refer to Note 25 Notes to the statement of cash flows for a 
detailed reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents.

2019 2018

$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 79,424,115 84,864,312 

Total 79,424,115 84,864,312 

Note 9 Investments

Accounting Policy

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, as they are held in a business model with the objective 
of collecting contractual cashflows. The contractual terms 
of these investments give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

Investments were classified as held-to-maturity investments 
under AASB 139 in relation to the year ended 30 June 2018.

2019 2018

$ $

Term deposits 15 547,315,000 581,883,000 

Floating rate notes 15 343,855,076 198,581,480 

Total 891,170,076 780,464,480 

Note 10 Trade And Other Receivables

Accounting Policy

Interest and other receivables are initially measured at fair  
value plus transaction costs and are subsequently measured  
at amortised cost. 

Receivables were classified as loans and receivables under 
AASB 139 in relation to the year ended 30 June 2018.

2019 2018

$ $

Sundry loans 29,827 156,709 

Interest debtors 124,183 95,953 

Other receivables 9,291 7,616 

Total 163,301 260,278 
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Note 11 Loans Receivable

Accounting Policy

Loans and advances feature contract terms which give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Loans and advances are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs directly attributable to the origination of the 
loan or advance. These costs are amortised over the estimated 
life of the loan. Subsequently, loans and advances are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, net 
of any provision for credit impairment.

Loans and advances were classified as loans and receivables 
under AASB 139 in relation to the year ended 30 June 2018.

2019 2018

$ $

General Church loans
General Church 3,451,671 3,760,215 

New South Wales 4,622,376 4,775,003 

Queensland 51,339,061 48,979,829 

South Australia 138,979,480 148,030,273 

Victoria 80,150,183 75,756,417 

Western Australia 9,401,382 10,132,625 

Total 287,944,153 291,434,362 

Other loans
Other sundry loans 8,666,804 9,885,527 

Total 8,666,804 9,885,527 

Total loans 296,610,957 301,319,889 

Note 12 Deposits

Accounting Policy

Deposits are initially recognised at fair value less directly 
attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

2019 2018

$ $

Deposits at call 1,144,652,591 1,050,779,096 

Total 1,144,652,591 1,050,779,096 

Note 13 Trade And Other Payables

Accounting Policy

Interest and other payables are initially recognised at cost and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

LCA and District allocations are recognised in the year to which 
they relate.

2019 2018

$ $

Trade creditors 117,990 58,120 

Total 117,990 58,120 

Grants and donations payable
LCA & District allocations 2,025,000 1,870,000 

Special purpose allocations 471,529 361,197 

Specified legacy allocations 441,326 - 

Total 2,937,855 2,231,197 

Total trade and other payables 3,055,845 2,289,317 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Note 14 Provision For Expected Credit Losses

Accounting Policy

AASB 9 requires the Company to recognise ‘expected credit 
losses’ on financial instruments. Expected credit losses 
represent a probability-weighted estimate of the present value 
of credit losses as a result of default. The Company assesses 
default to have occurred where a contractual payment is more 
than 90 days past due.

Financial assets to which the expected credit losses model are 
applied have been categorised as follows:

Stage Measurement basis

Stage 1 assets whose credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.

Stage 2 assets whose credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, other than 
those assessed as credit-impaired.

Stage 3 assets which are credit-impaired.

Expected credit losses on 
Stage 1 and Stage 2 financial 
assets are measured on a 
collective basis. Financial 
instruments are grouped by 
instrument type and on the 
basis of shared credit risk 
characteristics.

Measurement of expected 
credit losses – AASB 9

Expected credit loss 
calculations are based on 
historical loss rates, adjusted 
for current conditions and 
forward-looking information 
at both an individual 
counterparty level and a 
macroeconomic level.

Expected credit losses are the 
present value of the difference 
between all contractual cash 
flows due to the Company 
and all the cash flows that the 
Company expects to receive.

All of the Company’s loans 
receivable are supported 
by guarantees provided by 
the LCA and its Districts. 
Mortgages over freehold 
property and other security 
are also held in relation to 
a portion of the Company’s 
loans receivable. The 
existence of these security 
instruments is highly relevant 
to the estimation of expected 
credit losses.

Credit-impaired financial 
assets

A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is deemed to 
be impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that 
financial asset have occurred.

In the case of financial assets 
carried at amortised cost, 
loss events may include: 
significant financial difficulty 
of the borrower; breach of 
contract, such as default or 
past due event; granting of 
concessions to a borrower 
due to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty which the Company 
would not otherwise consider; 
indications that it is probable 
that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation.

Financial assets are assessed 
for indicators of impairment 
at the end of each reporting 
period. The amount of the 
impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the 
asset’s gross carrying amount 
and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. 
Any adjustment is recognised 
as an impairment gain or 
loss. There was no significant 
change to the policy as a result 
of the adoption of AASB 9.

Year ended 30 June 2018  
– AASB 139 
The amount of any loss is 
recognised as a provision for 
impairment.

Year ended 30 June 2019  
– AASB 9 
The amount of any loss is 
recognised as part of the 
provision for expected credit 
losses.

Expected credit losses on 
Stage 1 assets represent the 
portion of lifetime expected 
credit losses that result 
from default events that are 
possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date.

Expected credit losses on 
Stage 2 and Stage 3 assets 
represent lifetime expected 
credit losses resulting from 
all possible default events 
over the expected life of the 
financial asset.

Financial assets are assessed 
for significant increases in 
credit risk on an individual 
basis based on a variety 
of factors, including past 
events, current conditions and 
forward-looking information at 
both an individual counterparty 
level and a collective and 
macroeconomic level.

Financial assets which 
become past due by 30 days 
or more are presumed to 
have suffered a significant 
increase in credit risk in the 
absence of reasonable and 
supportable information which 
may rebut this presumption. 
The Company assesses an 
amount as past due where 
a contractual payment has 
not been met. No financial 
assets of the Company were 
assessed as past due by 
30 days or more during the 
reporting period.

Where a financial asset has 
been externally rated as 
‘investment grade’ the Company 
has assumed that the asset 
has not suffered a significant 
increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. This 
assumption has been applied 
to the Company’s portfolio of 
investments in floating rate 
notes where relevant.
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Write-off of financial 
instruments

Financial assets are written off 
where there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the 
entirety or a portion of the 
gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset. The Company 
generally determines that 
there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery where 
the counterparty no longer has 
sufficient assets or cash flows 
to repay any further amounts, 
and collateral and guarantees 
held by the Company to 
secure the exposure have 
been exhausted. Recovery of 
amounts previously written off 
(for example, due to continuing 
enforcement activity) reduce 
any loan impairment expense 
recognised for the reporting 
period.

There was no change to the 
write-off policy as a result of 
the adoption of AASB 9.

Renegotiated or modified 
loans

Where the terms of a loan 
have been renegotiated or 
modified and the loan is not 
derecognised, the Company 
adjusts the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset 
to reflect the present value 
of the renegotiated cash 
flows. Where this occurs, the 
Company assesses whether 
there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk by 
comparing the risk of default 
at the reporting date based on 
the modified contractual terms 
against the risk of default at 
the time of initial recognition 
of the original loan.

Where renegotiation or 
modification results in an 
assessment that the risk of 
default of a financial asset at 
the reporting date is no longer 
significantly higher than at 
the time of initial recognition, 
expected credit losses are 
remeasured to an amount 
equal to 12-month expected 
credit losses. A decrease in 
credit risk will ordinarily be 
assessed to have occurred 
after a prolonged history of 
payment performance against 
the modified contractual terms 
and consideration of a variety 
of indicators of financial 
performance of the borrower.

Collateral and other credit 
enhancements

All loan exposures are secured 
by a guarantee of repayment 
and an indemnity for loss in 
the event of default provided 
by the Lutheran Church 
of Australia Incorporated. 
All loan exposures are 
also secured by a specific 
guarantee and indemnity for 
loss from the relevant Districts 
of the Church. Some loans are 
secured by first mortgages 
and general security deeds.

In applying the above policy, 
the Company has not 
recognised a provision for 
expected credit losses with 
respect to the year ended 30 
June 2019 and the year ended 
30 June 2018 on the basis that 
measurement of expected 
credit losses with respect to 
these periods is not material.

Note 15 Financial Risk Management
The Company’s Risk Management Framework (RMF) integrates 
risk management processes into the Company’s governance, 
strategic planning, risk appetite, policies and reporting to ensure 
that risk is managed effectively and coherently.

The Company’s RMF is based on a ‘Three Lines of Defence’ 
model. Risk management accountabilities are allocated for 
risk ownership and functionally, independent oversight and 
assurance across the three lines (see below). These act as 
the foundation for effective risk management across the 
organisation.

Stage Response

First Line Businesses own and manage risks and controls 
(including the identification and assessment of 
risk and controls) within their business and across 
the operational environment and value chain in 
line with risk appetite.

Second Line The Risk function develops and maintains the 
risk management framework which enables 
the business to manage the risk and control 
environment within the Board approved risk 
appetite.

Third Line Internal audit provides independent assurance 
over the RMF and its application by the First and 
Second Lines.

The Board, through the Board Risk Committee, promote 
awareness of a risk based culture within the Company and 
support the establishment by management of an acceptable 
balance between risk and reward. The Chief Risk Officer 
provides a regular report to the Board Risk Committee including 
updates on material risk categories and meets regularly with 
the Board Risk Committee Chairperson outside the scheduled 
meeting program.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Credit Risk

Credit risk overview, 
management and control 
responsibilities

Exposure to credit risk relating 
to financial assets arises from 
the potential non-performance 
by counter parties of contract 
obligations that could lead to 
a financial loss.

Credit risk is managed through 
the strict adherence to loan 
allocation procedures and 
policies. Constitutionally, the 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia is restricted to 
lending funds exclusively to 
the Church, and bodies under 
the umbrella of the Church, for 
various projects undertaken to 
facilitate their ministries. 

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia 
independently assesses 
credit applications through 
adherence to strict credit 
policies and robust 
assessment. The Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia will not advance 
funds unless it receives 
suitable collateral from the 
borrower. Traditionally, such 
collateral included a guarantee 
of repayment and indemnity 
for loss, in the event of default, 
from the Lutheran Church 
of Australia Incorporated, 
embracing the recognised 
Districts of the Church.  

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia now 
also applies collateral 
requirements with respect 
to credit applications that 
includes mortgage security, 
general security deeds and 
other measures deemed 
appropriate, according to 
circumstances.

Credit risk is also minimised 
through strict policies on 
investing surplus liquid funds. 
Investment is only able to be 
made as follows:

• With an Authorised 
Deposit-taking Institution 
(ADI) within the meaning of 
the Banking Act 1959.

• In bills, bonds, inscribed 
stock, debentures, 
deposit receipts and 
other securities issued 
by the Commonwealth of 
Australia, or by any State, 
or by a public statutory 
authority constituted 
under the Law of the 
Commonwealth or any 
State.

• Highly rated investment 
grade corporate bonds in 
accordance with internal 
investment policy.

APRA has also enforced 
concentration limits upon 
the Company in respect of 
its lending and investment 
activities under the terms of the 
Company’s banking licence.

The Board maintains an 
investment policy which 
guides management. 

Credit risk exposure

The maximum exposure 
to credit risk by class of 
recognised financial assets 
at balance date is equivalent 
to the carrying value and 
classification of those 
financial assets as presented 
in the statement of financial 
position, plus loans approved 
but not yet advanced and 
undrawn overdraft facilities. 
Refer to Note 23 for details 
regarding loans approved but 
not yet advanced and undrawn 
overdraft facilities.

The table below shows the 
gross credit risk exposures 
to which the expected credit 
losses model is applied, 
grouped by financial asset 
type and credit risk rating 
grade. Loans and advances 
are internally rated based 
on a variety of factors, 
including past events, current 
conditions and forward-
looking information at both 
an individual counterparty 
level and a collective and 
macroeconomic level. Debt 
securities are externally rated 
in accordance with credit 
rating grades provided by 
rating agencies.
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Expected Credit Lossess (ECL) Model

2019 Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL 

Not credit impaired

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL 

Credit impaired Total

 $ $ $ $

Loans - Education
Low risk 207,551,343 - - 207,551,343 

Moderate risk 12,069,653 55,575,484 - 67,645,137 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 219,620,996 55,575,484 - 275,196,480 

Loans - Congregations
Low risk 5,895,986 - - 5,895,986 

Moderate risk - - - - 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 5,895,986 - - 5,895,986 

Loans - Aged Care and Retirement
Low risk 9,062,497 - - 9,062,497 

Moderate risk - - - - 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 9,062,497 - - 9,062,497 

Loans - Other
Low risk 6,455,994 - - 6,455,994 

Moderate risk - - - - 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 6,455,994 - - 6,455,994 

Debt Securities and Term Deposits
AAA to AA- 498,900,000 - - 498,900,000 

A+ to A- 233,171,471 - - 233,171,471 

BBB+ to BBB- 153,783,605 - - 153,783,605 

Not rated 5,315,000 - - 5,315,000 

Total 891,170,076 - - 891,170,076 

Total gross carrying amount 1,132,205,549 55,575,484 - 1,187,781,033 
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ECL Model

2018 Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL 

Not credit impaired

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL 

Credit impaired Total

 $ $ $ $

Loans - Education
Low risk 210,084,145 - - 210,084,145 

Moderate risk 14,198,281 53,009,524 - 67,207,805 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 224,282,426 53,009,524 - 277,291,950 

Loans - Congregations
Low risk 7,948,741 - - 7,948,741 

Moderate risk - - - - 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 7,948,741 - - 7,948,741 

Loans - Aged Care and Retirement
Low risk 11,061,413 - - 11,061,413 

Moderate risk - - - - 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 11,061,413 - - 11,061,413 

Loans - Other
Low risk 5,017,785 - - 5,017,785 

Moderate risk - - - - 

Higher risk - - - - 

Total 5,017,785 - - 5,017,785 

Debt Securities and Term Deposits
AAA to AA- 465,028,687 - - 465,028,687 

A+ to A- 217,717,475 - - 217,717,475 

BBB+ to BBB- 92,835,318 - - 92,835,318 

Not rated 4,883,000 - - 4,883,000 

Total 780,464,480 - - 780,464,480 

Total gross carrying amount 1,028,774,845 53,009,524 - 1,081,784,369
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk arises from 
the possibility that Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia might encounter 
difficulty in settling its 
debts or otherwise meeting 
its obligations related to 
financial liabilities. The 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia manages this 
risk through the following 
mechanisms:

• Maintenance of constant 
information systems and 
daily monitoring of cash 
flows.

• Preparation and 
maintenance of forward 
looking cash flow 
analysis in relation to its 
operational, investing and 
financing activities.

• Maintaining a reputable 
credit profile.

• Managing credit risk 
related to financial assets 
including concentration 
limits with respect to each 
issuer.

• Comparing the maturity 
profile of financial 
liabilities with the 
realisation profile on 
financial assets.

APRA has imposed a 
‘Minimum Liquidity Holdings’ 
requirement upon the 
Company under the terms 
of its banking licence, in 
accordance with APS 210 
Liquidity. As at 30 June 2019, 
the Company maintained a 
minimum liquidity holdings 
ratio of 33%.

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia accepts 
deposits for the purpose of 
fulfilling its charitable objects 
in providing financial support 
to the Lutheran Church of 
Australia. Interest is offered 
on deposit accounts and 
depositors may withdraw 
funds at any time.

Deposit accounts of Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia include monies 
deposited from constituent 
supporters that enable 
loans to be made to the 
nominated entity or project 
within its constitutional 
confines (which enables 
lending exclusively to the 
Lutheran Church of Australia 
Incorporated, and bodies 
under the umbrella of the 
Church). These deposits are 
known as ‘matching deposits’ 
and it is the responsibility 
of each borrowing Lutheran 
entity subject to this regime 
to maintain deposits 
commensurate with loan 
balances at all times. Failure 
to meet ‘matching deposit’ 
requirements enables 
the Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia to force a 
commensurate repayment of 
loan funding.

Maturity Analysis

The following table provides 
the contractual maturities 
of financial liabilities and 
financial assets held for 
liquidity management 
purposes. The contractual 
maturities for financial 
liabilities vary significantly 
from expected cash flows. 
In particular, customer 
deposits are consistently 
very stable, notwithstanding 
that all Depositors’ funds are 
held ‘at call’. Over the history 
of the Company, customer 
deposits have generally shown 
consistent growth on an 
annualised basis. Matching 
deposits held to support loan 
advances in particular are 
not expected to experience 
significant withdrawal in the 
short term, commensurate 
with the obligation of 
the borrower to maintain 
sufficient matching deposits 
in support of loans.

To aid the security of 
Depositors’ funds, the 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia maintains 
strong levels of liquid funds 
and maintains significant 
investments in interest 
bearing securities that are 
readily convertible to cash. 
Floating rate notes held are 
eligible under repurchase 
agreements in the event that 
funds are required for short-
term liquidity.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

30



30 June 2019  
Maturity Analysis At call 

Less than  
12 months 

 Greater than 
12 months Total 

 Note $ $ $ $

Financial assets held for liquidity management
Cash and cash equivalents 8 79,424,115 - - 79,424,115 

Term deposits 9 - 465,315,000 82,000,000 547,315,000 

Floating rate notes 9 - 32,100,000 311,755,076 343,855,076 

Total Financial assets held for 
liquidity management 79,424,115 497,415,000 393,755,076 970,594,191 

Financial liabilities
Depositors’ funds 12 1,144,652,591 - - 1,144,652,591 

Trade and other payables 13 - 3,055,845 - 3,055,845 

Other liabilities 19 - 2,272,878 - 2,272,878 

Total Financial liabilities 1,144,652,591 5,328,723 - 1,149,981,314 

30 June 2018  
Maturity Analysis At call 

Less than  
12 months 

 Greater than 
12 months Total 

 Note $ $ $ $

Financial assets held for liquidity management
Cash and cash equivalents 8 84,864,312 - - 84,864,312 

Term deposits 9 - 529,883,000 52,000,000 581,883,000 

Floating rate notes 9 - 10,000,000 188,581,480 198,581,480 

Total Financial assets held for 
liquidity management 84,864,312 539,883,000 240,581,480 865,328,792 

Financial liabilities
Depositors’ funds 12 1,050,779,096 - - 1,050,779,096 

Trade and other payables 13 - 2,289,317 - 2,289,317 

Other liabilities 19 - 2,053,198 - 2,053,198 

Total Financial liabilities 1,050,779,096 4,342,515 - 1,055,121,611
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Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Although typically static, the Company’s deposit and loan 
products provide for a variable interest rate, which allows for 
adjustment to reflect market conditions.

The Company’s primary source of interest rate risk arises from 
its investments in fixed term deposits and debt securities. Debt 
securities predominantly provide for a floating rate of interest.

The following table details the categories of financial 
instruments disclosed in the financial accounts, the interest rate 
assessed risk level and the reasoning.

Financial 
instrument 
category

Assessed 
risk Reasoning

Financial assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents

Low Cash is maintained at variable 
interest rates.

Receivables Low Short-term asset - not affected by 
changes in interest rates.

Loans Low Loan interest rates are highly 
static, with very few rate changes 
occurring during the entity’s 
history.

Investments Low Financial assets are predominantly 
fixed interest investments and 
floating rate notes.

Financial liabilities
Depositors’ 
funds

Low All monies deposited with the 
Company are at call. Deposit 
interest rates are typically static 
and infrequently adjusted to market 
conditions. Some deposits are 
‘matching deposits’ in support of 
loans.

Trade and  
other payables

Low Short-term liabilities - not affected 
by changes in interest rates.

The net effective variable interest rate investments expose the 
Company to interest rate risk which will impact future cash 
flows and interest income. This is indicated by the following 
floating interest rate financial assets.

2019 2018

$ $

Floating rate instruments

Floating rate notes 343,855,076 198,581,480 

Term deposits 40,000,000 40,000,000 

Total floating rate instruments 383,855,076 238,581,480 

Sensitivity Analysis

The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Company’s 
exposures to changes in interest rates. The table indicates the 
impact on how profit and equity values reported at the end 
of the reporting period would have been affected by changes 
in the relevant risk variable that management considers to 
be reasonably possible. These sensitivities assume that the 
movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables.

The sensitivities reflect the change in return that would be 
expected in relation to the Company’s at call funds and floating 
rate debt securities. The analysis assumes no change in interest 
income from loans advanced or interest expense on depositor 
funds.

Effect on profit Effect on equity

+0.50% -0.50% +0.50% -0.50%

 $ $ $ $

Year ended  
30 June 2019 1,936,646 (1,936,646) 1,936,646 (1,936,646)

Year ended  
30 June 2018 1,395,199 (1,395,199) 1,395,199 (1,395,199)
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Note 16 Fair Value
The Company measures fair value using the fair value hierarchy 
in accordance with AASB 13 as follows:

Level 1 Inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 Inputs that are unobservable inputs for the asset 
or liability.

The fair values reported in these financial statements reflect the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the reporting date. All asset fair values reported reflect the 
highest and best use of the relevant assets.

There were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during 
the reporting period.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
presented in the following table and can be compared to their 
carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position.

Differences between fair values and carrying values of financial 
instruments with variable interest rates are due to the change 
in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial 
recognition by the Company. These instruments which are 
carried at amortised cost are held to maturity and therefore the 
fair value amounts bear little relevance to the Company.

Fair values of debt securities such as floating rate notes are 
measured on a Level 1 basis, reflecting quoted prices in active 
markets for debt securities.

Valuations using observable inputs – Level 2

Fair values of deposit assets, deposit liabilities, trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables approximate their 
carrying value.

Valuations using significant unobservable inputs – Level 3

Fair values of loans and advances are determined using 
discounted cash flow techniques based on the current effective 
interest rates. 
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30 June 2019 
Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair values 

Fair value 
hierarchy 

 Note $ $ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 79,424,115 79,424,115 Level 1
Term deposits 9 547,315,000 553,966,437 Level 2
Loans and advances 11 296,610,957 296,610,957 Level 3
Trade and other receivables 10 163,301 163,301 Level 2
Debt securities 9 343,855,076 347,598,247 Level 1
Other assets 18 6,682,792 6,682,792 Level 2

Total financial assets 1,274,051,241 1,284,445,849  

Financial liabilities
Depositors’ funds 12 1,144,652,591 1,144,652,591 Level 2
Trade and other payables 13 3,055,845 3,055,845 Level 2
Other liabilities 19 2,272,878 2,272,878 Level 2

Total financial liabilities 1,149,981,314 1,149,981,314  

30 June 2018 
Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair values 

Fair value 
hierarchy 

 Note $ $ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 84,864,312 84,864,312 Level 1
Term deposits 9 581,883,000 583,874,307 Level 2
Loans and advances 11 301,319,889 301,319,889 Level 3
Trade and other receivables 10 260,278 260,278 Level 2
Debt securities 9 198,581,480 200,638,331 Level 1
Other assets 18 6,707,769 6,707,769 Level 2

Total financial assets 1,173,616,728 1,177,664,886 

Financial liabilities
Depositors’ funds 12 1,050,779,096 1,050,779,096 Level 2
Trade and other payables 13 2,289,317 2,289,317 Level 2
Other liabilities 19 2,053,198 2,053,198 Level 2

Total financial liabilities 1,055,121,611 1,055,121,611 
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Other Assets And 
Liabilities

Note 17 Property and 
Equipment

Accounting Policy

Property and equipment

Each class of property, plant 
and equipment is carried at 
cost or fair value less, where 
applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 
losses.

Property

Freehold land and buildings 
are shown at their fair value, 
based on periodic, but at 
least triennial, valuations by 
external independent valuers, 
less accumulated depreciation 
for buildings.

In the periods when the 
freehold land and buildings are 
not subject to an independent 
valuation, the Board conduct 
Board valuations to ensure the 
land and buildings’ carrying 
amount is not materially 
different to the fair value.

Increases in the carrying 
amount arising on revaluation 
of land and buildings are 
credited to a revaluation 
surplus in equity. Revaluation 
decreases that offset 
previous increases of the 
same asset are recognised 
in other comprehensive 
income. All other decreases 
are recognised in income and 
expenditure.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of 
all fixed assets including 
buildings (other than a 
revaluation year) but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated 
on a straight line basis over 
the assets useful life to the 
Company commencing from 
the time the asset is held 
ready for use.

The depreciation rates used 
for each class of depreciable 
assets for the current and 
comparable period are:

Class of  
fixed asset

Depreciation 
rate

Buildings 2.5%

Plant and 
equipment

10.0 - 33.3%

Furniture and 
fittings

10.0 - 33.3%

Motor vehicles 20.0%

The assets’ residual values 
and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, 
at the end of each reporting 
period.

An asset’s carrying amount 
is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if 
the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals 
are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying 
amount. These gains or  
losses are included in income 
and expenditure. When 
revalued assets are sold, 
amounts included in the 
revaluation surplus relating to 
that asset are transferred to 
retained surpluses.

Any accumulated depreciation 
at the date of revaluation is 
eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated 
to the revalued amount of the 
asset.

Equipment

Equipment is measured 
on the cost basis and is 
therefore carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment 
losses. In the event the 
carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is greater than 
the estimated recoverable 
amount, the carrying amount 
is written down immediately 
to the estimated recoverable 
amount and impairment 
losses are recognised either 
in income and expenditure or 
as a revaluation decrease if 
the impairment losses relate 
to a revalued asset. A formal 
assessment of recoverable 
amount is made when 
impairment indicators are 
present.

Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Company 
and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All 
repairs and maintenance are 
recognised as expenses in 
income and expenditure in the 
financial period in which they 
are incurred.

Key judgements and 
estimates

Impairment

The freehold land and 
buildings were independently 
valued at 30 June 2017 
by McGees Property. The 
valuation was based on fair 
value less costs of disposal. 
The critical assumptions 
adopted in determining the 
valuation included location of 
the land and buildings, strong 
demand in the locality of the 
premises and recent sales 
data.

As at 30 June 2019, the 
Directors reviewed the key 
assumptions made by the 
valuers at 30 June 2017. 
They have concluded that 
these assumptions remain 
materially unchanged and 
are satisfied that carrying 
amounts do not exceed the 
recoverable amount of land 
and buildings at 30 June 2019.

Useful lives of property and 
equipment

The Company reviews the 
estimated useful lives of 
property and equipment at the 
end of each annual reporting 
period.
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Land and Buildings 2019 2018

$ $

Freehold Land at:
Independent valuation 2017 5,140,000 5,140,000 

Total land 5,140,000 5,140,000 

Buildings at:
Independent valuation 2017 2,075,000 2,075,000 

Additions at cost 45,778 - 

Less: accumulated depreciation (103,750) (51,875)

Total buildings 2,017,028 2,023,125 

Total land and buildings 7,157,028 7,163,125 

Equipment 2019 2018

$ $

Furniture and fittings 259,403 251,959 

Less: accumulated depreciation (231,023) (225,721)

28,380 26,238 

Motor vehicles 175,894 175,894 

Less: accumulated depreciation (76,384) (41,205)

99,510 134,689 

Plant and equipment 626,837 604,371 

Less: accumulated depreciation (547,194) (545,067)

79,643 59,304 

Total equipment 207,533 220,231 

Total property and equipment 7,364,561 7,383,356 

Asset Revaluations

The freehold land and buildings were independently valued at 
30 June 2017 by McGees Property. The valuation resulted in a 
revaluation increment of $1,129,375.

Date $

Flats (8) - North Adelaide June 2017 2,400,000

Office building and land - North 
Adelaide June 2017 4,500,000

Residence - Port Hughes June 2017 315,000

Total property 7,215,000 
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Movement in carrying amounts for each class of property and equipment between the beginning and end of the financial year.

2018
Land Buildings

Furniture 
and Fittings

Motor 
Vehicles Equipment Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,140,000 2,075,000 41,013 123,406 63,701 7,443,120 

Additions - - - 86,517 23,213 109,730 

Disposals - - - (40,235) - (40,235)

Depreciation expense - (51,875) (14,775) (34,999) (27,610) (129,259)

Revaluation movement - - - - - - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 5,140,000 2,023,125 26,238 134,689 59,304 7,383,356 

2019
Land Buildings

Furniture 
and Fittings

Motor 
Vehicles Equipment Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,140,000 2,023,125 26,238 134,689 59,304 7,383,356 

Additions - 45,778 7,444 - 50,180 103,402 

Disposals - - - - - - 

Depreciation expense - (51,875) (5,302) (35,179) (29,841) (122,197)

Revaluation movement - - - - - - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 5,140,000 2,017,028 28,380 99,510 79,643 7,364,561
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Fair Value

The Company measures and recognises land and buildings at fair value on a recurring basis in the statement of financial position 
after initial recognition.

30 June 2019 
Recurring fair value measurements in the statement of 
financial position

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 $ $ $ $

Non-financial assets
Freehold land - 5,140,000 - 5,140,000 

Buildings - 2,017,028 - 2,017,028 

Total non-financial assets measured at fair value - 7,157,028 - 7,157,028 

30 June 2018 
Recurring fair value measurements in the statement of 
financial position

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 $ $ $ $

Non-financial assets
Freehold land - 5,140,000 - 5,140,000 

Buildings - 2,023,125 - 2,023,125 

Total non-financial assets measured at fair value - 7,163,125 - 7,163,125 

Land and buildings are measured on a Level 2 basis using a combination of market and income approaches. Market approaches 
use prices and other relevant information generated by transactions involving similar or comparable assets. Income approaches 
estimate the fair value of the asset by applying a capitalisation rate to the net sustainable income from rent of the property. 
Capitalisation rates and estimates of market rent are based on prices and other relevant information generated by transactions 
involving similar or comparable assets.
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Note 18 Other Assets

2019 2018

$ $

Interest accrued - investment 
securities 6,652,517 6,681,529 

Interest accrued - loans and 
overdrafts 30,275 26,240 

Total 6,682,792 6,707,769 

Note 19 Other Liabilities

2019 2018

$ $

Other financial liabilities
Accrued interest 2,203,484 2,051,798 

Accrued expenses 69,394 1,400 

Total other financial liabilities 2,272,878 2,053,198 

Goods and Services Tax 84,929 105,566 

Total other liabilities 2,357,807 2,158,764 

Note 20 Provisions

Accounting Policy

Employee Entitlements

Provisions are recognised 
for present obligations 
arising from past events 
where a payment (or other 
economic transfer) is likely 
to be necessary to settle the 
obligation and can be reliably 
estimated.

Short term employee 
provisions

Provision is made for the 
Company’s obligation for 
short term employee benefits. 
Short term benefits are those 
that are expected to be settled 
wholly before 12 months after 
the end of the annual reporting 
period in which the employees 
rendered their service 
including wages, salaries 
and annual leave. Short term 
benefits are measured at 
the undiscounted amounts 
expected to be paid.

Long term employee 
provisions

Provision is made for 
employees’ long service leave 
not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months 
after the end of the annual 
reporting period in which the 
employees rendered their 
service. Long term employee 
benefits are measured at the 
present value of the expected 
future payments. Expected 
future payments incorporate 
anticipated future wage 
and salary levels, durations 
of service and expected 
departures and are discounted 
at rates determined by 

reference to market yields at 
the end of the reporting period 
on high quality corporate 
bonds that have maturity 
dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. 
Upon the remeasurement of 
obligations the net change 
is recognised in income 
and expenditure as part of 
provision expense.

Key judgements and 
estimates

Provisions other than loan 
impairment

For the purpose of 
measurement AASB 119: 
Employee benefits defines 
obligations for short term 
employee benefits as 
obligations expected to be 
settled wholly before 12 
months after the end of the 
annual reporting period in 
which the employees render 
the service. The Company 
expects most employees 
will take their annual leave 
entitlements within 24 months 
of the reporting period in 
which they were earned. The 
Company measures all annual 
leave entitlements on a non-
discounted basis. The impact 
on the amounts recognised 
in respect of obligations for 
employee leave entitlements, 
in not segregating annual 
leave between settled within 
12 months and not settled 
within 12 months, would not 
be material.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
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Provisions (cont.)

2019 2018

$ $

Employee benefits - Annual leave 173,531 179,920 

Employee benefits - Long service 
leave 428,993 398,894 

Unclaimed monies 151,382 268,383 

Unclaimed depositors 398,585 397,095 

Total 1,152,491 1,244,292

Analysis of short term provisions

2019 2018

$ $

Settled within 12 months  502,164 540,857 

Settled greater than 12 months  650,327 703,435 

Total 1,152,491 1,244,292

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount 
accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued 
for long service leave entitlements that have been vested due to 
employees having completed their required period of service. 
Based on past experience, the Company does not expect the 
full amount of annual or long service leave balances classified 
as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. 
However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities 
since the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement on these amounts in the event employees wish 
to use their leave entitlements.

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts 
accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not 
yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet 
completed the required period of service.

Note 21 Intangible Assets

Accounting Policy

Software is recognised at cost. It has a finite life and is carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses. Software has an estimated useful life of between one 
and five years. It is assessed annually for impairment.

2019 2018

$ $

Computer software - at cost 1,790,520 1,530,428 

Less: accumulated amortisation (1,393,919) (1,217,018) 

 396,601 313,410

Movement in carrying amounts

2019 Acquired 
computer 
software Total 

Note $ $

Balance at the beginning  
of year 313,410 313,410 

Additions 260,092 260,092 

Disposals - - 

Amortisation expense 5 (176,901) (176,901)

Impairment losses - - 

Balance at the end of year 396,601 396,601
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Capital 
Management

Note 22 Reserves
Accounting Policy

Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia maintains 
reserves as part of its equity to 
represent net assets that are 
set aside for specific purposes 
and that are permanent in 
nature. This accounting 
policy is in honour of moneys 
bestowed upon the Company 
by various supporters and 
from deceased estates 
together with purposes 
of good stewardship and 
prudential management.

The use of reserve accounts 
is consistent with the policy of 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia Board that moneys 
donated and bequeathed are 
permanently honoured.

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia makes 
annual grants to various LCA 
projects in relation to some of 
these reserves. The grants are 
recorded as part of ‘benefits 
and services’ costs as reported 
at Note 6 and are calculated 
using the standard loan 
lending rate of the Company as 
applied to the balance of the 
underlying reserve.

A brief explanation of each 
reserve account is as follows:

Asset Revaluation Reserve

The Asset Revaluation 
Reserve records revaluation 
increments and decrements 
arising from the revaluation of 
land and buildings.

Capital Reserve

The Board uses this reserve 
to set-aside funds from 
accumulated surpluses to 
aid the capital adequacy of 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia. This reserve 
contains those allocations and 
is an important component of 
the prudential management 
practices of the Company. 
During the year ended 30 
June 2019, the Company 
resolved to set aside $2 
million from this reserve to 
create a General Reserve for 
Credit Losses, consistent with 
the requirements of APRA 
prudential standards.

General Reserve for Credit 
Losses

APRA Prudential Standard 
APS 220 Credit Quality 
requires a reserve to be 
held to cover credit losses 
estimated but not certain 
to arise in the future over 
the full life of all individual 
facilities. The General 
Reserve for Credit Losses 
(GRCL) is calculated using 
a prudential expected loss 
methodology that differs to 
that used for AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments expected credit 
loss provisions. The GRCL 
represents an appropriation 
of retained profits to non-
distributable reserves when 
the regulatory reserve is 
greater than the accounting 
provision. The purpose of 
the GRCL is to provide the 
Company with freely available 
capital which can be used to 
meet credit losses that may 
subsequently materialise.

The Company created GRCL 
of $2 million in accordance 
with Prudential Standard APS 
220 during the year ended 30 
June 2019, consistent with the 
Company being authorised as 
an ADI. The GRCL was created 
by way of transfer from the 
Capital Reserve. 

Donations Reserve

General donations received 
are set-aside to this reserve 
account. These moneys 
are honoured in this way to 
ensure that the capital base of 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia reflects direct 
contributions as intended.

In-Memoriam Donations 
Reserve

Donations received in honour 
of deceased persons are set-
aside to this reserve account.

LLL Church Worker Support 
Fund Reserve

This reserve account was 
formerly known as the Mission 
Lay Helper Fund and reflects 
moneys set aside and donated 
for the support of ministry 
performed by Lutheran Church 
of Australia Incorporated 
church workers. The reserve 
was created in honour of two 
esteemed church workers, Ben 
Koch and John Dolling. Both 
men were former leaders of 
Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia in its development 
and growth. Annual grants 
are paid in relation to this 
reserve and made available 
for appropriate church worker 
support.

Legacies Reserve

This reserve sets-aside 
as permanent all moneys 
bequeathed to Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia other than those 
moneys that are bequeathed 
for special purposes. Special 
purpose legacies are allocated 
directly to appropriate 
specified reserves.

LLL ALWS Support Fund 
Reserve

This reserve is moneys 
set aside for the support 
of Australian Lutheran 
World Service (ALWS). The 
reserve amount records 
moneys donated to Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia for this purpose 
together with allocations 
made by the Board. Annual 
grants are paid in relation 
to this reserve and made 
available for ALWS mission 
purposes.

LLL Local Mission Support 
Fund Reserve

Moneys allocated by the 
Board together with specific 
donations and bequests for 
the purpose of providing 
resources for new local 
ministry in the LCA. Annual 
grants are paid in relation 
to this reserve and made 
available to the LCA to support 
local mission projects.
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LLL Lutheran Media Support 
Fund Reserve

Moneys set aside by the Board 
together with donations and 
legacies have created and 
added to this reserve for the 
purposes of Lutheran Media 
Ministries. Annual grants 
are paid in relation to this 
reserve and made available 
to the Lutheran Church for 
the specific purpose of media 
ministry.

LLL Ministry Support Fund 
Reserve

The Board established the 
Ministry Support Fund Reserve 
for the purposes of setting 
aside additional funding for 
the LCA in its endeavours 
of faith development and 
evangelism. Annual grants are 
paid in relation to this reserve 
for these purposes.

LLL International Mission 
Support Fund Reserve

This reserve account was 
formerly known as LLL 
Overseas Mission Fund. 
Funds set aside by the Board 
together with specified 
donations and bequests for 
the direct support of overseas 
evangelism and ministry of the 
LCA. Annual grants are paid 
in relation to this reserve for 
these purposes of expending 
on appropriate international 
mission projects.

LLL Training and Development 
Support Fund Reserve

This reserve account was 
formerly known as LLL 
Scholarship Fund. Funds set 
aside by the Board together 
with specified donations 
and bequests for the direct 
purpose of providing training 
and development funding. 
Annual grants are paid to the 
LCA in relation to this reserve 
for training and development 
purposes.

LLL Special Purposes Fund 
Reserve

This reserve represents a 
composite of moneys set aside 
for specific purposes and 
arises from specified donations 
and bequests including Board 
allocations. A subsidiary 
schedule of purposes is 
maintained by Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of Australia 
to honour the intended 
purposes of the moneys 
pledged and that are held for 
specific purposes. This reserve 
includes the capital component 
of LLL Tract Mission Fund. 
Annual grants are made 
available commensurate with 
this reserve for direct project 
expenditure for the relevant 
special purposes.

LLL Child, Youth & Family 
Support Fund Reserve

Capital set aside by the Board 
together with accumulated 
donations for the purpose 
of child, youth and family 
ministry support of the LCA. 
Annual grants are paid to the 
LCA in relation to this reserve 
for these ministry purposes.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Asset Revaluation Reserve

The Asset Revaluation reserve consists of the following;

2019 2018

$ $

Valuation increments on Flats (8) - 
North Adelaide 1,888,605 1,888,605 

Valuation increments on Office 
building and land - North Adelaide 2,408,709 2,408,709 

Valuation increments on Residence 
- Port Hughes 185,540 185,540 

Total 4,482,854 4,482,854

Other Reserves

2019 2018

$ $

Capital Reserve 33,375,924 33,375,924 

General Reserve for Credit Losses 2,000,000 - 

Donations Reserve 1,185,578 1,181,760 

In Memoriam Donations Reserve 170,728 164,758 

LLL Church Worker Support Fund 
Reserve 1,620,067 1,620,048 

Legacies Reserve 24,879,781 24,274,854 

LLL ALWS Support Fund Reserve 1,873,863 1,840,726 

LLL Local Mission Support Fund 
Reserve 11,729,065 11,718,214 

LLL Lutheran Media Support Fund 
Reserve 581,168 581,168 

LLL Ministry Support Fund Reserve 18,000,000 16,000,000 

LLL International Mission Support 
Fund Reserve 5,698,645 5,698,645 

LLL Training and Development 
Support Fund Reserve 1,509,421 1,509,421 

LLL Special Purposes Fund Reserve 11,723,019 11,480,689 

LLL Child, Youth & Family Support 
Fund Reserve 1,108,167 1,108,167 

Total 115,455,426 110,554,374 

Total reserves 119,938,280 115,037,228
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Unrecognised Items

Note 23 Contingent Liabilities and Credit 
Commitments
As at the reporting date, the Company had approved credit 
facilities to LCA bodies that were not as yet drawn. This 
included standard principal and interest loan facilities that were 
authorised but not advanced together with short term overdraft 
facilities provided to some educational bodies. 

2019 2018

$ $

Loan commitments
Loans approved but not yet 
advanced 37,306,198 48,743,044 

Undrawn overdraft facilities 3,689,423 5,659,933 

Total loan commitments 40,995,621 54,402,977

Other Disclosures

Note 24 Capital Adequacy
The Company is an Authorised Deposit-taking Institution (ADI) 
subject to regulation by the Australian Prudential Regulation 
Authority (APRA) under the authority of the Banking Act 1959 
(Cth). APRA has set minimum Prudential Capital Requirements 
(PCR) for ADIs consistent with the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision (BCBS) capital adequacy framework. PCR are 
expressed as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets. APRA 
requirements are summarised below with respect to all ADI’s  
in Australia:

Common Equity 
Tier 1 (CET 1) Tier 1 Capital Total Capital

4.5% minimum 6.0% minimum 8.0% minimum

Comprises the 
highest quality 
of capital that 
consists of 
retained profits, 
plus certain other 
items recognised 
as the highest 
quality 
components of 
capital.

CET1 capital plus 
certain securities 
with complying 
loss absorbing 
characteristics.

The sum of Tier 1 Capital 
and Tier 2 Capital. 
Tier 2 Capital includes 
subordinated instruments 
and other components 
of capital that, to varying 
degrees, do not meet 
the criteria for Tier 1 
Capital, but nonetheless 
contribute to the overall 
strength of an ADI and its 
capacity to absorb losses.

APRA also requires ADIs to hold additional CET1 buffers 
comprising of:

• A capital conservation buffer above the PCR for CET1 
capital. The capital conservation buffer is 2.5% of the ADI’s 
total risk-weighted assets.

• A countercyclical capital buffer. The countercyclical buffer 
is set on a jurisdictional basis and APRA is responsible for 
setting the requirement in Australia. The countercyclical 
buffer requirement is currently set to zero for Australia.

Collectively, the above buffers are referred to as the “Capital 
Buffer” (CB). The PCR that APRA has set for the Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of Australia is confidential under 
authorising conditions set by APRA. The Company complied 
with all Prudential Capital Requirements set by APRA at all 
relevant times during the year ended 30 June 2019.
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APRA may determine higher 
PCR for an ADI and may 
change an ADI’s PCR at any 
time. A breach of the required 
ratios under APRA’s Prudential 
Standards may trigger legally 
enforceable directions by 
APRA, which can include a 
direction to raise additional 
capital.

Capital ratios are monitored 
against internal capital targets 
that are set by the Board over 
and above minimum capital 
requirements set by APRA.

The Board and Senior 
Executive Team manage 
the capital of the Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of 
Australia to ensure protection 
of depositors’ funds and to 
fulfil the constitutional objects 
of the Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia Limited 
in support of the Lutheran 
Church of Australia.

The Lutheran Laypeople’s 
League of Australia has a 
very strong and responsible 
management policy in relation 
to capital management 
of funds including the 
establishment and growth 
of permanent funds through 
reserves. Its guidelines ensure 
minimisation of credit risk 
and maximisation of capital 
preservation. The guidelines 
are extremely conservative 
and limit the Company 
to investments of a non-
speculative nature.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

The table below represents all items included in the prudential capital of the Company, in 
accordance with APS 111 Capital Adequacy: Measurement of Capital.

2019 2018

$ $

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Retained Surpluses 10,655,389 9,804,797 

Capital Reserve 33,375,924 33,375,924 

Donations Reserve 1,185,578 1,181,760 

In Memoriam Donations Reserve 170,728 164,758 

LLL Church Worker Support Fund Reserve 1,620,067 1,620,048 

Legacies Reserve 24,879,781 24,274,854 

LLL ALWS Support Fund Reserve 1,873,863 1,840,726 

LLL Local Mission Support Fund Reserve 11,729,065 11,718,214 

LLL Lutheran Media Support Fund Reserve 581,168 581,168 

LLL Ministry Support Fund Reserve 18,000,000 16,000,000 

LLL International Mission Support Fund Reserve 5,698,645 5,698,645 

LLL Training and Development Support Fund Reserve 1,509,421 1,509,421 

LLL Special Purposes Fund Reserve 11,723,019 11,480,689 

LLL Child, Youth & Family Support Fund Reserve 1,108,167 1,108,167 

Asset Revaluation Reserve 4,482,854 4,482,854 

Total Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 128,593,669 124,842,025 

Tier 2 Capital
General Reserve for Credit Losses 2,000,000 - 

Total Tier 2 Capital 2,000,000 - 

Total Prudential Capital 130,593,669 124,842,025
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Note 25 Notes To The Statement Of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities with 
net surplus

2019 2018

$ $

Surplus from operations 5,751,644 6,420,478 

Non cash flows in surplus

Amortisation of intangible assets 176,901 100,174 

Depreciation 122,197 129,259 

(Profit) on sale of non-current 
assets - (6,482)

Unclaimed monies and deposits 
transferred to income (212,882) (406,894)

Change in assets and liabilities

Increase in trade payables and 
accruals 833,420 380,189 

Increase in provisions 23,710 36,476 

(Increase) Decrease in accrued 
interest receivables (4,928) 831,666 

Increase (Decrease) in accrued 
interest payable 151,686 (159,212)

Net decrease in loan facilities 4,835,814 11,028,632 

Net increase in Depositors’ funds 93,951,331 21,116,141 

Total 105,628,893 39,470,427

Reconciliation of Cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to items in the 
statement of financial position as follows:

2019 2018

$ $

Cash at bank and at call 79,424,115 84,864,312 

Total 79,424,115 84,864,312

Cash includes cash at bank and on hand and deposits held at-
call with banks.

Note 26 Related Party Disclosures

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

The Key Management Personnel (KMP) are those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, 
including any Director of the Company. Control is the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of the Company so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Key management personnel comprise the 10 (2018: 9) Directors 
of the Company, the Chief Executive Officer and two Executive 
Staff. The aggregate compensation of KMP during the year 
comprising amounts paid or payable or provided for, but 
excluding out of pocket expense reimbursements, was as follows:

2019 2018

$ $

Key Management Personnel Compensation
Short term employee benefits 1,009,582 1,001,583 

Post employment benefits - - 

Other long term benefits - - 

Total 1,009,582 1,001,583

Loans to Key Management Personnel

2019 2018

$ $

Loans - Key Management Personnel 9,185 14,385 

Total interest earned on loans to key 
management personnel - - 

Total interest earned if loans to key 
management personnel were made on an 
arm’s length basis

593 163 

Number of Loans - Key Management 
Personnel 1 1

The above balances represent loans made to key management 
personnel. The loan is unsecured with a remaining term to 
maturity of 22 months. There has been no provision made or 
any expense recognised during the financial year ended 30 June 
2019 in respect of bad or doubtful debts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018

$ $

Total value of deposit accounts from Key 
Management Personnel 242,565 395,596 

Total 242,565 395,596 

Total interest paid on deposit accounts 6,993 4,488

Other related parties

The Lutheran Church of Australia Incorporated and its related 
entities are related parties of the Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia.

2019 2018

$ $

Loan balances outstanding from 
the Lutheran Church of Australia 
Incorporated and its related entities

296,610,957 301,319,889 

Total 296,610,957 301,319,889 

Total interest income on loans 14,763,504 14,917,247

The above represents outstanding loans made to the LCA and 
its related entities together with interest received and accrued 
on those loans for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

2019 2018

$ $

Total value of deposit accounts 
from the Lutheran Church of 
Australia Incorporated and its 
related entities

440,623,479 383,633,192 

Total 440,623,479 383,633,192 

Total interest expense on deposit 
accounts 10,638,463 10,381,893

The above represents total deposits from the LCA and its 
related entities together with interest paid and accrued on those 
deposits for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

Note 27 Auditor’s Remuneration
MRL Group acted as external auditor for the Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of Australia Limited in relation to the audit 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. KPMG was appointed 
external auditor during the year in respect of the audit for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019.

2019 2018

$ $

Remuneration of the audit firm: KPMG MRL 

Auditing 114,406 64,800 

Consultancy - 218,430 

Total 114,406 283,230

Services provided by the external auditor in the year ended 
30 June 2018 in addition to statutory audit services included 
consulting advice pertaining to the transition of the Company 
to operate as an Authorised Deposit-taking Institution, financial 
reporting advice, development of the loan security framework 
and formation of the internal audit function. 
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Note 28 Significant 
Events
The organisation transferred 
its undertaking to a company 
limited by guarantee 
registered under the 
Corporations Act and ceased 
trading as an Association 
under the Association 
Incorporations Act of South 
Australia on 13th July 2018.

This transition took place 
under Section 42 of the 
Associations Incorporations 
Act of South Australia. By 
virtue of this provision, and 
as authorised by relevant 
government regulators and 
statutory bodies:

• The property, rights 
and liabilities of the 
Association became 
the property, rights and 
liabilities of the Company;

• The Company and 
Association are 
maintained as the ‘same 
entity’ for all relevant legal, 
contractual and charitable 
purposes. 

Accordingly, the Company has 
the same Australian Business 
Number as the Association 
had and has maintained its 
charitable status under the 
provisions of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission.

The Company was granted 
authority by APRA to operate 
as an Authorised Deposit-
taking Institution on 16 
November 2018 with date 
of effect 1 February 2019. 
Accordingly, the Company 
commenced formal operation 
as an ADI on 1 February 2019. 
Prior to this time LLL operated 
under a charitable exemption 
from the Banking Act under a 
specific authority instrument 
issued by APRA. 

Note 29 Entity Details

The registered office of the 
Company is:

Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia Limited 
175 Archer Street 
North Adelaide SA 5006

The principal place of 
business is:

Lutheran Laypeople’s League 
of Australia Limited 
175 Archer Street 
North Adelaide SA 5006

Directors’ Declaration

In the Directors’ opinion
a. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 12 

to 47 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Corporations 
Act 2001 including:

i. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Entity as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the 
year ended on that date; and

ii. complying with Australia Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of Australia Limited will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

For and on behalf of the Board by:

Graeme J Huf
Director, Chairperson

Nancy S Fox
Director, Vice Chairperson 

Dated the 13th day of September 2019
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 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report
 
 

To the members of Lutheran Laypeople’s League of Australia Limited 

Opinion  

We have audited the Financial Report, of the Lutheran 
Laypeople’s League of Australia Limited (the 
Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Report of 
the Company is in accordance with Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
(ACNC) Act 2012, including:   

i. giving a true and fair view of the Company’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2019, and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year ended on that date; and 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

The Financial Report comprises: 

i. Statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2019;  

ii. Statement of income and expenditure 
and other comprehensive, Statement of 
changes in equity, and Statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended; 

iii. Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies; and 

iv. Directors’ Declaration. 

 

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
ACNC Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

Other information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Lutheran Laypeople’s League of Australia 
Limited’s annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. 
The Directors are responsible for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
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and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

 

 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

i. preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the ACNC; 

ii. implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives a 
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

iii. assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate 
the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is:  

i. to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

ii. to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this Financial Report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the Audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the registered Company’s internal control;  

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors; 

iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
Auditor’s Report to the related disclosures in the Financial Report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our Auditor’s Report. However, future events or conditions may cause the registered 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern; and 

v. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

49Annual Report  2018/2019



 

 
 

We communicate with the Directors of the registered Company regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 
 

 
KPMG Darren Ball 

Partner 

  

 Adelaide 

 13 September 2019 
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